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FAMILY HISTORY

Unosuke Shikuma -- Arrival from Japan

When your father came to California, do you know where he came from in Japan?
He’s from Yamaguchiken.

And that's a prefecture?

That'’s right.

Did he, like so many others that came to the United States, plan to go back to Japan?
Yes.

What kind of family did he come from?

Well, from a farm-agricultural family. It was just a small family. His sister is still living in
Cortez. She’s 88 years old now. He had another brother who passed away.

Kotaro?

No. That was his uncle. | think he’s a little more elderly. His brother came here, and that's
why my father settled in Watsonville ... that's how he came into Watsonville.

| see. How long had his brother been here before your father came?
Several years maybe?

| think so.
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And what did he do? Was he farming or working...

Well, they were all farm-laborers here. Those that came from Watsonville were farm-
laborers.

Unosuke Shikuma -- Farm-Laborer

My father worked here as a laborer. That's how he got into strawberries.

| read that when he first came here he worked in the onion fields.

That's right.

Do you know anything about that?

No, | don’t know anything other than he mentioned that he started work in the onion fields.
He always mentioned that he helped plant the orchard on Holohan Road. The orchard is still
there. | think it's the old Holohan Orchard.

Apples?

Apples. So he did various types of farm-labor work here.

He started out as a field hand?

Yes.

Did he ever tell you or anyone in the family about what kind of working conditions the field
hands had in those days?

I know he talked a lot about it, but you know | wasn’t too interested about those things. | am
now ... | wish | had listened more closely.

Did your dad speak English?
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No, not when he came. He went to night school and ... no, a missionary lady came over and
tried to teach them [my mother and father] English. And that's how he picked up a few words
of English. So as far as doing the shopping for the family and all that, my dad was doing all

of it.

Because he spoke a little English, or ...

Right. He didn’t know any of it when he first arrived here.

Do you remember the name of the missionary lady? | think I've heard about her.

Yes. They have a little mission here in town. Gosh ... (laughter) ... | just don’t remember
those names.

Yes, well, you didn’t know her personally?
No, no. | know my brother Kenji was very familiar with all this.

| see.

Haru Maenaga -- Arrival from Japan

Do you know anything about your mother’s courtship. When she came over here in 1907 ...
No.

Was she from the same prefecture as your father?

Yes.

Did the families know each other then?

Yes. Well the fact you know that families were related ... it's just one of those things that’s all
arranged within the family.
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So she wasn't a picture bride ... because the families knew each other and knew their
children?

That'’s right.

And when she came here then | guess she arrived in San Francisco?
No, wait a minute. | think she arrived in Seattle.

Seattle. Did she speak English?

She spoke no English.

How did she get down to Watsonville?

Well | think they came as a group. | think there was someone that kind of chaperoned the
group who understood a little English and how to get them here to Watsonwville.

Has your mother ever told you or anyone in the family about ... was she homesick? Did she
feel strange being here and not speaking the language?

Yes, she experienced all that. | think she was very homesick when she got here because
everything was so strange and on one understood the language. The only comfort that they
had was there was a group of them, you know.

They at least had that common family life.

Yes. They had others to talk with within their own group.
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FAMILY LIFE

Housing

What year were you born?

19109.

How many children did your mother have?

She bore seven of us.

How many were boys?

Five boys and two girls.

What was your life like as a child? Can you describe, for instance, what housing was like?

I still remember the type of house we lived in. It was just a single-wall type of structure. One
of our jobs, as the newspaper on the walls got older, was to mix the old starch and then
paste the newspaper onto the wall to insulate the house. And then of course we had no
modern toilet facilities. We had to carry water into the house to wash. | know my mother each
night before we’d go to bed would make us wash, but it was just an old tub in the middle of
the floor. She’d scrub us and then we’d dip our feet in there and she’d wash our feet and
then we'd go to bed.

Can you tell me ... this family house that you lived in, did your father build it?

I recall my dad always saying that at first they had to share homes with other families, you
know, that there weren’t enough homes for each family. And I think when my older brothers

were first born why they were sharing their homes with my dad’s uncle. They eventually were
able to get an old home of their own.
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Food and Shopping

During your growing-up years, what kind of food did you eat? What did your mother prepare?

Japanese style rice; rice was our basic food. We also had fish and vegetables, but not too
much meat.

Did you always have a family vegetable garden?

Yes. They always raised the Japanese vegetables: daikon and nappa and things like that.
Where did you get the rice?

In town.

Where did your mother or you father shop? Later | suppose your mother did the shopping.
Well, there were Japanese merchants in town. We could get all the Japanese food from
them. And then once a week, these Japanese people [in my time, they were able to have old
cars] would come with what amounts to an old panel or pickup. They would come to peddle
these Japanese food items.

| see. | never knew that was practiced around here.

Fish peddlers would come weekly, too.

Japanese peddlers?

There was one Japanese fish peddler, and then there was an Italian peddler that would call
on the Japanese.

Would this be someone from Moss Landing or Monterey? Do you happen to remember?

No. | don’t know just where the fish was coming from. | think it was from Moss Landing and
from out of Monterey.
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Religion

Was your father a Christian in Japan?

No. They were all Buddhists. They were converted here, through the missionaries.
Once he became a Christian, was religion an important part of your father’s life?
To my dad yes, very important. He took his religion, Christianity, very seriously.
Was your mother also converted?

Yes.

So you grew up in a household then ... for instance the children were baptized?
Yes.

Did the church play an important part in the social life of the community that your family was a
part of?

Very much so, | think. My social life and even athletics, when | was a child, revolved around
the church. The basketball teams we had were centered around the church ... or within our
own church group. I don't know ... it seems like those that were with the Buddhist faith and
those of us in the Christian faith were kind apart. And | know my life, unlike my children’s
lives now, was centered around the church. All our socials and everything revolved around
the church.

Education
Did you speak English?

| spoke no English until | actually started school.



Jarrell:

Shikuma:

Jarrell:

Shikuma:

Jarrell:

Shikuma:

Jarrell:

Shikuma:

Jarrell:

Shikuma:

Jarrell:

Shikuma:

Which was when you were five or six?

| started at age five in the Roach district.

And that was just a regular public school?

Yes, a regular public school.

And you say this was the Roach district?

That’s where | started school. My first year of grammar school was there. When | started my
second year, we [using my brother’s name] purchased property in Corralitos, so we moved
there and I finished my grammar school years in Corralitos. Later | went to Watsonville High
School by bus.

You started school about 19247

1925 | think. | was born 19th December, very close to 1920.

Oh. | see. Do you recall if there were many Japanese children?

Quite a few, quite a few, because the Japanese kind of stayed together, you know. We had to
move with the strawberries because, unlike now, we had to seek new soil. At that time, when
you grew a crop of strawberries, you never replanted back onto the same soil. So the
community would kind of move from one area to another.

What kind of distance would be involved in moving?

Well we were pretty close. | can recall as a child that the little group that | was with was within
a quarter mile of the next group. Many of us were together. There’d be two or three families

all within a quarter mile of us, and we would move kind of like a group. We'd rent or get a
piece of ground ... my dad was unable to rent ground, but a lot of it
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was rented through his son’s name or my brother’s name.

Now this had to do with the alien land rights?

That's right.

So that your father himself ...

Was unable to lease, rent, or to buy land.

So he used whose name then?

I think at first there was an older Nisei who was born here who was able to rent or lease a
parcel of ground; the whole group would farm it. When my brother became old enough, why
then he was able to lease ground. That's when we finally purchased our first property in

Corralitos. It was under my brother’'s name.

| see.

Discrimination

Did your father ever talk to you or anyone in your family about the difficulties [arising] from
discrimination or prejudice in his business life?

Well, my dad was ... | know he experienced discrimination and all that, but as far as | can
remember he never talked to us [the children] very much [about] the hardships that he was
going through because he was a Japanese. The only hardship that | knew [about] without
[his] telling me was that he was unable to purchase or lease land. | kind of became aware of
that and somehow | just felt that it was because we were of a different race. But he never
expressed any bitter feelings [over] experiencing hardship because of it. He just took it as
one of the challenges of life.

He sort of kept it to himself.



Shikuma:

Jarrell:

Shikuma:

Jarrell:

Shikuma:

*Ed. note:

10

Yes. Of course as we grew up, | began to feel the prejudices and the discriminations myself.

People would yell “Jap” at us, or things like that. But then, | don’t know, | never felt bitter about
it. 1 didn’t like it, but then | thought well it's just [an] unfortunate thing that I'm of [the] Japanese
race, of Japanese ancestry.

Did you feel angry when you experienced this as a child, or in high school, or growing up?

No ... this is just my own personal feeling, but | never really felt angry about it. | just kind of
accepted it. To me, it was kind of a challenge that | was going to have to overcome -- this
kind of discrimination. | didn’'t know how to overcome it at that time. Of course when | grew
older and got on my own, | felt that | just had to make the best of it and try to make as much
money as | could and succeed as much s | could in climbing, so that at least I'd be
respected for what | am, and what | possess.

Yes. You wanted to make good.

This is still the kind of feeling | have now. Others may have felt differently. | think some did,
you know, especially when we went into the relocation center. * | didn't feel bitter that we
were placed in a relocation center. Like | said, | figured that | just happened to be of the
Japanese race and we were at war and my ancestors were at war and unfortunately
because of my race, | was being put

The Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, December 7, 1941, aroused fears among
government officials about the loyalty of Japanese-Americans, most of whom lived on or
near the West Coast. Executive Order 9066, signed by President Roosevelt on February 19,
1942, ordered that Japanese-Americans, both aliens and citizens, be evacuated and settled
inland. Executive Order 9102 of March 18th, created the War Relocation Authority, which
established ten relocation camps in Arizona, California, Idaho, Wyoming, Colorado and
Arkansas in which over 110,000 Japanese American were detained for the duration of the
war.
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into this position. There were a few, | guess, that felt a little differently (cont.) than I did.
Evidently so, because when they came out with a questionnaire in camp on this “yes and no”
business, and | put “yes”, that | would be willing to serve and | was still loyal to the country, |
guess there was a few that said “no”.

This was a survey before ...

... while we were in the relocation center.

| see. It asked if you would serve in the armed forces?

Yes, that was the questionnaire that we were given by the United States government.

Childhood Responsibilities

What were your responsibilities as a child to you family? What were you expected to do
and to take care of?

Well, whenever we had time, we’d help with the strawberries. Of course when | started to
grow up, my dad began to have sharecroppers and not too many berries of our own, so |
didn’t have to go out in the strawberry field. But then | would help the sharecroppers. | know
that when | got old enough, | helped my dad collect and pick up the strawberries from the
sharecroppers and load them onto the trucks to haul to the market.

To the SP? [Southern Pacific]
Yes and also to what was then referred to as Clark Brothers. They had a trucking firm here in

town that brought the strawberries into the San Francisco market. For the Los Angeles
market we’d have to bring the strawberries down to the SP depot right
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here on Pajaro.

So in those days, your family helped your dad?

Yes.

And he would also have other families sharecropping?

Yes.

When the families would work together ... let's say they would have a piece of property or
acreage that was leased ... when you all worked together, would the mothers and the
children also work?

Yes.

Were you taken out of school to do this?

No, just anytime we could help, why we helped.

So everyone was cooperating. How was the determination made for payment? Whom did
you sell the strawberries to?

Well, each one farmed his own parcel.
And how big of a parcel would that be?

Usually it was very small because so much of it was done by hand ... it was two acres, three
acres of land.

At the most?
Yes, alarge parcel would be three acres.
And each family unit would be responsible then for that part of it?

That's right. We were independent of the others as far as | can remember.
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STRAWBERRIES

Unosuke Shikuma -- Landowner and Grower

When your father purchased, through your brother’'s name, his first parcel of land out in
Corralitos, he had sharecroppers who worked on the land?

That's right.

Were they Japanese people?

Japanese.

Who had just came over from Japan?

No. They were families that had been here almost before my parents, or my father. Many
came after my dad’s time too. But they were ... let's see ... as far as | can remember there
was the Kiyotoki family ...

Kiyotoki?

Yes. They were sharecroppers. So were the Hirokawa and Lotsishitas and Nakamura.
Some were younger that my dad, but some were equivalent in age to my dad. But those who
didn’t have sons old enough to purchase a place, or who didn’'t want a place of their own,
why they sharecropped for my dad.

And he would take what percentage of the crop, do you know?

Usually ... afar as | can remember ... it was a 50/50 thing. My dad would provide the land and
the plants and the tools and work the ground ... they would provide the labor. And then when
the berries were harvested and marketed, why then we would divide the income. He would

get families to sharecrop for him. The children of our sharecroppers, | know they picked
strawberries from ... oh, sometimes, 5:00, 5:30
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in the morning until they had to leave for school. This way they worked a (cont.) few hours
before they left for school. Then they’'d come home from school and pick some more berries
until quitting time.

Now | read that your father also was a sharecropper himself in the early years.

I think he was. But that was before | was even born.

I see. | just wondered if you could tell me about that?

I don't recall too much of it. My brother could probably tell you more, ‘cause Mac is thirteen
years older than I.

I've read that when your father first leased his land and became an independent grower, that
it was very difficult in those days, especially for a Japanese, to acquire the capital necessary
to even buy the land ... and also to buy the other furnishings that would be necessary. Do you
know anything about how he got the money?

What | recall is that he always spoke about JMB and Bonora. He went to the commission ...
JMB?

Jacobs, Malcom, Burke ... | don’t think they’re in business any longer. Burke had numerous
commission houses where my father would commit his berries and then they would
advance him the money.

Before the crop came in?

Yes. There were commission houses in San Francisco and Oakland.

So he went to them?
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Yes.
And they furnished him with the money for his first venture as an independent grower?

Yes.

Cultivation

From the time that your father grew berries and now that you are growing berries, what major
changes in the growing techniques have occurred in the ways that the plants are actually laid
out or taken care of?

We, when my dad farmed berries, he would use very few plants from the nursery. These
plants would runner and then the workers would go by hand and place each runner. Then
they’d trim off the runners that they didn’t need and they’d fill in their planting beds that way.
Now we just use the plants right from the nursery to fill in our needs. Whenever they runner,
why trim the plants and discard all the runners; we never utilize them.

Now why do you do this? Is it because of the tractors?

That's right, yes. Instead of two rows on a bed, which is more expensive because of the
higher cost of labor ... we plant a single bed. We try to utilize the labor more inexpensively, so
they more crates per hour. We go single rows in a bed, you know, so the packers won't
waste any time searching for fruit. The fruit's more exposed. But this is subject to change
again. You've probably heard of drip irrigation. Now with this drip irrigation, there are a few
growers going to a real wide bed. They're putting four rows to a bed.

| see.
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They’re putting a drip line between each bed. This way they can get 50-60,000 plants per
acre.

And a cut in the irrigation.

Yes. You're getting more plants per acre. So in this sense, you're getting maybe two or two
and a half acres of plants onto what we’re doing now on our single-row planting. Hopefully
they’ll realize an increase in production per acre to absorb the additional costs of the labor,
rent, water, and fumigation costs.

Well, won’t the labor be a little more, since ...

Well, That's to be seen. The variety is going to change, too. the university is developing
newer varieties. Now there are 39 varieties where, for example, you can get a smaller plant
so you can plant more plants per acre and not have all the bush where the pickers will have
to search. The Tioga varieties we have now are small plants. So it's going to continue to
change, | think. | haven’t experimented yet with the drip method, but I'm watching it closely.
Would you say then this is a more intensive form of agriculture?

That's right.

You're trying to get, say, two and a half acres worth of plants onto one acre?

Roughly.

Doesn’t a more intense irrigation result from having the plants closely placed like this?

Yes. The only way you can get that is with the drip irrigation.
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Diseases

Now you were telling me earlier that berries, grown when you were a youngster, were grown
in a particular field for a particular crop and then you’d move on. Why was this so?

It was because of the disease factor. Fungus and different diseases would attack the
strawberries. Mainly, it was because of verticillium wilt.

Verticillium wilt?

It's a fungus.

In those days you knew there was some kind of a disease?

Yes, if you replanted the same field. | don’t think they really knew a that time, but they knew
that if you replanted back onto the same soil you would never have the same result as going
into a virgin soil.

And then it would attack the new plants in the virgin soil, and so you'd keep going.

That's correct.

Now when did this change?

This changed after | went into strawberry growing myself in 1949. | would say that we went
into fumigation with chloropicrin and methyl bromides around 1957 or ‘58. | don't really recall
but it was around that time when this type of fumigation became available.

Before 1957, would you use the same plants every year and just transfer them?

No.

You destroyed them?
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Yes. We'd buy new plants from the nursery.
| see. Was that expensive per acre?

At that time, as | recall, my cost was about $12 per 1000. We would plant oh, from 24,000
plants to 26,000 plants to an acre. It was an expensive item. At that time, it was the most
expensive item.

I was reading the article your brother Kenji wrote, * the article on strawberries. He says they
used to use the same plants years after year.

Well, once you planted it, you would keep the plant for about four years.

| see. And then he said the practice changed and they started using new plants each

Right. That's what we're doing now. Even after fumigation, we were going two or three years
without replanting. Now there’s still a little of that left, but the majority of us are converting to

almost an annual planting. Of course that's because of the quality factor and the labor factor
and all that.

What are some of the other diseases or problems particular to strawberries?

Well, our main insect problem is the two-spotted mite. During the last few years the

has been reoccurring. It was a very major problem before this fumigation ... before we
started to go into this annual and short growing season. Now that some of the cyclamen are
reoccurring in our second-year plantings, especially if the Driscoll ** people keep a little bit
second year ... University, what we

* The Seventy-Fifth Anniversary of Mission Work in Watsonville, California, October 28, 1973.
(Westview United Presbyterian Church, Watsonville, California). This memorial pamphlet
contains a reminiscence by Kenji Shikuma.

** Driscoll Strawberry Associates, Inc. of Watsonville.



Jarrell:

Shikuma:

Jarrell:

Shikuma:

Jarrell:

Shikuma:

Jarrell:

19

grow the University varieties. And we're seeing it more the last few years too. It was really a
major problem before we went into this annual planting and before we were able to get a few
of the sprays like Thiodan and Endrin that controlled the cyclamen for us. Now we can no
longer use Endrin.

Why?

It's outlawed by the Food and Drug Administration. Thiodan isn’t as effective as Endrin. Of
course the farmers ... we've been kind of neglectful because the cyclamen wasn’t too much
of a problem for a while and then | think we became careless about it. We didn't really give a
thorough spray for it after harvesting season was over in the fall. So now the cyclamen is
reoccurring. | think a few of the farmers are quite concerned about it again. | saw it last fall
quite heavily in my field ... the first time so heavy.

So what did you do?

Well, this spring | gave ita good dousing with this Thiodan. We can only use it for three
weeks prior to harvest, so before harvest, if | can get in another spraying again, | am going to
give it another dousing. Then I'll hope for the best.

The varieties of the strawberry that the University has produced are, | suppose, fairly hardy
and invulnerable to a lot of problems. But are they still, as crops go, a fairly delicate or
sensitive species?

Yes, they are. Rain is a problem. They can’t stand much of the rain. We thought this new
fungicide, Benlate, was going to help us. But now it looks to me like there’s a little resistance
to Benlate.

Now what does Benlate do?
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It inhibits mold after the rain?
It protects against dampness. | see.

Yes. But, | don’t know, we have our doubts about how effective it is. So rain is a major
problem. The two-spotted mite is a tough one to control. Of course we have Omite and
Plictran to deal with this, but regardless, we’re restricted to two or three applications a
season. We can't, just because the mites are there, use it weekly anymore. If we use it now,
we’re going to have to space ourselves on when we can use it again. This new product,
Plictran, just became available last year. We can’t dust it;we can only spray it as a liquid. And
when you have to liquid spray, then you're going to have to get a commercial liquid sprayer
in, and if your fruit is hanging heavy, why you're going to get a little damage to it from the

spray.
Why?

Because the tires go over the plants. You could hose it, but that requires a lot of labor. If you
do that, you're restricted to a certain number of applications. But | think Plictran being the
newer of the two materials will probably be more effective, but only as a spray.

You're not allowed to dust the plants?

No.

Isn’t that how it's usually done?

Well, we can't use airplanes with the dust anymore.

How do you apply it then?

I apply it with my tractor. | have a duster with the tractor. On the small patches on the side
hills where they can’t use these tractors, they have sprayed using
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a little backpack that sprays dust. With the regulations we have now, | don’t know if we're
going to be able to hack it.

In the old days when your father started, you just kept moving. Is that correct?

Yes.

Was this your way of dealing with the pests and the mites and the funguses?

Yes.

There were no remedies in terms of chemicals?

No. But you know, my father’s strawberry field would come out lush in the spring and
produce a crop and then it would turn all yellow. My dad would give it fertilizer and give it a lot
of water and hope that it would come back in the fall.

What kind of fertilizer did he use?

I don't recall just what kind of a mixture they used. | kind of imagine that there probably was a
lot of nitrogen init. | don’t think the fertilizer was quite as sophisticated as it is today.

Or as specific for the crop.

Right.

So he used to water and fertilize when the plants turned yellow.

Yes. They hoped that it would come back in the fall. And | think those fields that did come
back were probably helped by the predators that would probably come in and eat the insects.

We still have predators on two ... the cyclamen mite and on the two-spotted mites. If you have
an infestation of two-spotted
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mites, then predators move in. Now that we don’t go in with these sprays parathion that Kill
the predators, they are coming in a little more. Omite and Plictran aren’t harmful to the
predators. So in my program | watch my field and if | see predators in there and | think they
can get a hold of it, | withhold my spraying program. | don’t spray quite as much and just let
the predators kind of try to handle the thing. | think that’s what was happening in the olden
days. But they were losing a crop on account of that ... waiting for the predators to come it.
We're able to harvest right through because of our spray program.

Jarrell: Well if you had to judge or evaluate the old style which was a game of wait and see ... there
was nothing really you could do except to fertilize, water and hope for the best?

Shikuma: Yes.

Jarrell: Today with all of these restrictions on the kinds of pesticide that you can use, you still think
that these restrictions are going to seriously challenge the success of your crops ... more
than the results you obtained with just fertilizer. Is that correct?

Shikuma:  Well, | think with the two-spots we can use the Omite and the Plictran and be successful.
There aren’t too many restrictions other than the time intervals involved. Plictran seems to
carry over for a longer period of time. | don'’t think that we're hurt too bad with it. Now the
cyclamen mite ... | don’t know how we’'re going to handle it. It's a really serious problem. The
Driscoll people have their entomologists and all their specialists trying a little bit of what we
were trying in the old times. We used to put mulch on the plants and shoot methyl-bromide
gas in the soil to try to eliminate the cyclamen mite. They're experimenting this winter on
different plots. It's an expensive process to put plastic mulch over the plants. We tried
mulching a little bit just
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before our cultural practices changed and endrin and Thiodan became available. That's an
expensive process too.

Mulching

Now I noticed down on Lakeview Road when | was driving up here, that there was a field with
this plastic mulch on it.

That’s mine.

Oh, that's yours?

Yes.

Now those were just single rows.
Single rows, yes.

Isn’t that plastic pretty expensive?

The plastic this year ... this particular plastic that I'm placing now is 71-74¢ a pound against
31-34¢ last year. The cost has doubled.

It's made of oil, | guess.

Right. It's an oil byproduct. If you looked closely you would have seen a plot without plastic
which I'm just kind of experimenting with. I'm comparing the two.

In your father’s day, | suppose they just used natural mulch or hay.
He didn’t mulch at all.

How would they conserve their moisture? Didn’t they worry about that?
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Well, no, | guess they didn’t. | don’t think this plastic is conserving moisture. It's the use of
the plastic that has changed. We used it for weed control or mold control. But now all that
has changed.

Harvesting

When we first went to plastic, it was mainly because we were trying to get our berries into the
market a week to two weeks earlier. We don’t want the berries to come in early because
Anaheim or Orange County is already in and we can't... we'd be bumping heads with them.
Then Ventura County comes in. So now we're really trying to come into the May and June
markets.

When are the strawberries harvested here?

I think we will start after the middle of April. So this plastic is really purchased as we try to
come into earlier markets. | kind of delay laying the plastic for as long as | can instead of
trying to lay my plastic early as before.

You want to boost your time ahead so that you're later in the season?

Yes. I'm trying to lay the plastic as late as | can.

So that you won't be bumping heads with those other counties?

That's right. I'm using the plastic now to get the cleaner fruit and reduce the mold on my fruit
in case of a late rain. But maybe... that doesn’t mean too much... | mean the Driscoll people

aren’t using plastic because their fruit comes in mainly during the latter part of May. Their
crop will come in early but then their main production will
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be in late May and into June and partly into July. So I'm just experimenting now with lots of
plastic to see how much later the fruit is going to come with the plastic than the one without
the plastic. Also | want to assess the difference in damage in case we do get a late rain. |
also want to know the difference in the quality of food and all that. | want to see for myself.

Would you say that the strawberry is still a vital crop for the Pajaro Valley?

| believe it is, yes. Once the Pajaro Valley comes into production, the other areas no longer
can compete with us. Fortunately, Orange County is in production now and when we come
into production, why then they’re pushed off of the market. They no longer can compete with
us quality-wise or price-wise. So they either shift to the freezer or they discontinue
production. Their season is terminated. And then of course after Orange County, Ventura
County comes into production. We kind of bump heads there for a period. Then of course we
can keep going, but they’ll probably go to the freezer or they try to stay in the market a little bit
longer. But that is the only time that we have for selling. We still have to depend a little bit on
the processed berries, too. Ventura produces quite a bit of processed berries, too. Frozen
berries kind of set the base for our fresh berry market and naturally they're freezing berries
when they can’t compete with us on the fresh market. This naturally set the amount of
berries that | can put into storage.

Would you say that the berries in the Pajaro Valley area are primarily for the fresh market?
Yes.

Is there some kind of a differential in terms of the profits you make between the berries that
are processed, frozen, canned, as opposed to fresh berries? You sell
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them for a higher price fresh don’t you?

Well... yes, we do. We expect to get a little more money from the fresh berries, but then it isn’t
necessarily so. It all depends on the demand of the frozen berries, too. Laborwise, the
pickers would prefer to pick fresh berries rather than the frozen berries.

Why?

Well, they have this incentive for picking fresh berries. | don’t know whether they feel better
picking fresh or what, but they prefer it. You have to stem berries for the freezer. You have to
stem them and it’s a little more tedious, too.

Yes.

Whereas with the fresh berry, you just kind of flick the stem off.

Do you mean that for the frozen food plant, the berries are stemmed by hand?

All have to be... yes.

Is it just like if I'm in my kitchen getting them ready for dessert and I'm taking the stems out?
Yes.

There’s no mechanical process for this?

No, there isn't.

Well I'm surprised that strawberries don’t cost a lot more than they do.

You have to ripen your fruits a little more to pick for the frozen berries than you do for the
market berries.
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| see.

Because if you try to stem them early, the berry is too hard. When it's too hard, they aren’t
going to stem. But when they get good and ripe, why the stem comes right out. It'll kind of
stem itself without your having to work at it too much.

Do the field workers use little knives for the stemming or do the do it by hand?

By hand. But usually when we start going to the freezer, we just let the berries stay on the
an extra three or four days so that the workers can just kind of pull them off the plant.

I read that by 1910 the Japanese produced 70% of the strawberries in California. Now much
of the initial growth of this crop was in this area right here?

Yes.

It spread throughout the state into various agricultural areas ... is this correct?
Yes.

Plus we have Mexico now.

Yes.

How many acres of strawberries do you have?

This year I'm going to have a little over 70 acres.

How many did your father have in his earlier days? Let’s say in the ‘20s.

Well ...

Do you have just a rough idea?
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Yes. | think he had around 20 acres.

So you have roughly three times as much?

Yes.

Could you tell me generally what has been the trend here over the years then with regard to
the size of what we could call a small family farm? | don’t know how large a small family farm
in strawberries would be.

Well, the small family farms | would say right now are on a scale of 8 to 15 acres.

Versus the larger acreages requiring a number of hired workers which is what you do?

Yes.

Would you say that people, growers like yourself, predominate in the valley in acreage?

Well, in terms of acreage, | don’t know how you would term the Driscoll’s with the
sharcroppers. Would you place them in the same category as | am?

Well | guess it's definitely changed. Sharecropping and commercial growing are the two
categories that seem to predominate in the valley here.

Yes.
There don’t seem to be just family units with a few hired people in strawberry farming.

Actually there are quite a few Japanese growers and a few Mexican families.

MARKETING

What do you do with your berries when they’re
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harvested here? Where do you take them?

| take them to Naturipe.

Which is a packing shed?

No. We receive at the apple growers cold storage here. They have the precooling facilities;
we rent the precooling facilities or we pay for the facilities. The berries are received there and
shipped from there ... all from one place.

Did your father in his days, let’'s say in the ‘20’s, pack berries in little wooden boxes?

Well what he originally started doing, as | recall, was to put the berries into little trays.

Made out of wood?

Yes, wood. And then they went into what we called a chest. Each chest, if you went on this
particular crate size, would carry 8, and if you went to what we call the slide size, the crate
would carry 16. And then they would all be slid into this chest and the lid would be closed
and a screw would hold the lid and it would be hauled in this manner. Later they would have
to truck the chest back.

Oh, | see. They were recycled?

That's right. But the crates were not.

Just the chests?

Yes, just the chests.

So these kept the berries cool and fresh in transit?

Well, that was just a container to slip the strawberries in. Like when we went into the Los
Angeles market, the freight car would have ice bunkers, but
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going into San Francisco the berries would be just shipped in old truck beds, or whatever
you call them.

Marketing -- Cooperatives

Could you talk a little bit about the marketing procedures; the distribution, sales, particular
markets, and how they have changed since the ‘20s?

Well, of course my dad originally started marketing and getting financed by the local
commission merchants. And then | think his uncle, and then my dad right shortly after that,
was instrumental in starting thismarketing club called the Central VValley California Berry
Growers Association which today is Naturipe.*

Now what year would this be that Nuturipe or the Central California Berry Growers
Association ... what year was this cooperative established?

Gosh, I don’t know just what year it was established. | think my brother has the date in his
book.

Oh, | can look in there. | might have missed it, yes. Do you know any of the other families who
were involved in the formation of the cooperative? Or was this your father’s idea.

No. He wasn’t the original director. | think he was probably instrumental in it, but he wasn’t
one of the younger Issseis at the time when it was formed. | think my dad’s uncle, Kotaro
Shikuma, was one of the original directors. And then a year or two later my dad became a
director. He was director for years and years and years.

What area did this take in? | know it’s in Santa Clara County today ... was it the same areas
in the past?

This first meeting of the Central California Berry Growers Association was held in San
Francisco on April 9, 1917. In 1958 the organization adopted the name Naturipe Berry
Growers, and is presently the largest strawberry cooperative in the country. (Wilhelm,
Stephen and Sagen, James E., A History of the Strawberry: From Ancient Gardens to Modern
Markets, Berkeley: Agricultural Publications, University of California, 1974, p. 194; 208.)
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It took in Watsonville and the Santa Clara Valley, | think.
Monterey, also?
I think there might have been a little out on the tip of it. The main office was in San Francisco.

Now can you describe this cooperative? It was the growers getting together for distribution
purposes ... to expedite distribution ... is this correct?

Well, we still shipped into the market that mountain members shipped into, even though we
were in a cooperative. The cooperative kind of went into the market to see that each farmer
was given a fair market price. It was just sort of a protection for the member growers. And
then later | think they started a little interstate shipment. In the fall they would start shipping a
few berries into the Eastern market.

And these would go by rail?
Yes, they would go by rail.

My brother, Kenji, went to work for the cooperative after he graduated from Stanford. His job
during the regular season was to go to San Francisco and Oakland and check on the market
and see how many of the grower member's berries were on the market. He checked on the
price they received.

Kind of gauging the market?

Yes. And making sure that they were receiving the equivalent of what others were receiving
or at least the fair market share. Later the co-op started a Los Angeles shipment. We would
have a man here helping the growers get the car and then shipping it into the Los Angeles
market. They would keep a record of just who was shipping and how many crates
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and what kind of ... then they would receive a telegram back from the market reporting the
market price. And then from there ... | know Keniji, in the fall when they eventually started the
Eastern shipment, why my brother would go the Eastern market._ And as the strawberries
would arrive, he would help distribute them into the different markets in New York and into
the other nearby Eastern markets. So that was kind of the start of the interstate marketing
program.

But in the early days most of the berries from Pajaro Valley ended up in San Francisco?
Yes, the San Francisco market.

And then the next area would be Los Angeles?

Yes, Los Angeles.

Now what about Seattle or Portland? Would strawberries from here go up there?

I don't know too much about that, but | think some did eventually get up into those markets by
rail.

And then the market became interstate?

When | started strawberry farming in 1949, | was shipping strictly into the San Francisco and
Los Angeles market. | became a member of the Central California Berry Growers
Association.

Is it mostly a Japanese organization or of many different growers?

Well, I think originally it was mainly a Japanese grower's association, but during the war
years, since no Japanese was growing strawberries ... well the Driscoll family and the Rieter
family were old strawberry-growing families, too. So they kind of expanded their strawberry-
growing venture, and |
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know when | came back, we had lost touch with the co-op. We called on Mr. Haack who was
a manager before the war ... | think the Driscoll and Reiter families kind of held the
association together. *

During the relocation years?

Yes. During the war, the Driscoll people kind of developed their own varieties. They started to
do this because Dr. Thalmus ... who was with the University of California, and has since left
... went with the Driscoll people. | think the university of California kind of gave up on this
strawberry. Thalmus was instrumental in developing their z-5-a's, and what, they call the
Driscoll berries. When we came back, we all joined the Central California Berry Growers
Association again. Not all of us joined. A few of us who were old-time member families
decided that the Central California Berry Growers Association would have our shipping
program while Driscoll people had theirs. There was some understanding why they agreed
to separate from us. They continued on with their Driscoll shipping venture and continued
with Naturipe.

Is Naturipe a brand name, also?

Itis.

When you have a box filled with cartons of berries, does it say Naturipe on the outside?
Yes.

Which means that the berries came from one of the growers in the Central California Berry
Growers Association?

That's right.

Would you say that the Naturipe berry has a high reputation?

For a history of the Naturipe organization see Wilhelm and Sagen,
A History of the Strawberry (1974), op. cit.
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Well we think it has.

Do you know anything about the Watsonville Strawberry Co-op? Is it Mexican-owned and
run?

No. It's Mexican and Japanese. Mexicans are the minority. | think they have about 5 or 6
Mexican growers and the balance of | would say about 20 or 22 would be Japanese growers.

Marketing -- Supply, Demand, and Promotion

What do you think, looking back over the years, are the main reasons for the very sharp
fluctuations or changes in the berry crops in the Pajaro Valley? Now we know that there was
moderate acreage before the war, then it dropped to zero during relocation, and then after
the war it expanded very sharply when, in 1956, there were about 3000 acres planted here in
the valley.

Yes.

Now since 1956, | think acreage has gone below 3000 acres. What do you think accounts for
this?

Well, you know, when | started in '49, | planted... there were a few who started a little earlier...
but there being a scarcity of berries, the market was very good. It's just supply and demand
that prompted the acreage fluctuations. | know when | started we were getting... well, four
dollars was not unusual on a weekend market, you know.

That $4 refers to...

$4 per tray.

| see.

So people would plant more when the buyers said
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give us more berries. We were led to believe that there was no saturation point.
You could just keep going infinitely?

Just keep going, yes. The strawberry was really a desired item and we thought that we
couldn't possibly overproduce. So this prompted business people and doctors and other
professional peoples to invest money in the strawberry market.

| see.

They would finance growers; they would put up the money. This encouraged a lot of people,
including a lot of my race of people, to come from Los Angeles and from the cities. They
heard that you could make a mint raising strawberries.

It was a get-rich-quick sort of thing.

Yes, the capital was easily available because all these people were interested in investing in
a strawberry crop.

What years are you talking about when this sort of boom thing was on?

Well, | would say around 1952, '53, '54. Then we saw the crash come in 1957. All of a
sudden we were told that we had an oversupply of freezer berries at 8¢ a pound. We also
had an oversupply of fresh berries at $1.50 a crate. | experienced that | couldn't repay my
loans. | had to mortgage what | had with the bank. And those crops that were financed by
people who didn't have any land or any holdings to mortgage... why they just went bust. So
when the acreage went down, why the strawberry market came back again. Right now the
consumption varies with our marketing orders and with our advertising and our promotion.
The consumption has increased greatly, too.
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Is this one of the areas that Naturipe works in? Isn't there a Strawberry Advisory Board?

Well we're part of the Strawberry Advisory Board and we contribute to the Strawberry Advisory
Board.

You contribute information about the specific yields, et cetera?

Yes. And the Strawberry Advisory Board does all the promotional work.
How is the Strawberry Advisory Board financed?

By an assessment.

An assessment of the growers' yield?

The growers are assessed so much and the shippers are assessed so much a crate.

Labor

I've read that your father imported young Japanese workers to work in the strawberry fields.
What year was this in?

Well, he did this in '55 and '56, | believe.
Is this still done today to any extent?
I don't think so. These boys came under the Refugee Relief Act.*

| see.

The Refugee Relief Act of 1953 authorized the issuance of special non-quota immigrant
visas in specified numbers to certain groups of aliens seeking to enter the United States as
immigrants.
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These were boys who were supposedly displaced Japanese youngsters and | think most of
them were ex-servicemen. They were in China, or Korea, or Manchuria during the war years.
After the was they were sent back to Japan. They had no place to go in Japan, or didn't have
anything to do, so they were able to qualify for this Refugee Relief Act program.

Do you think your father could have maintained his level of production without those young
men?

| personally think so. At that time | was mainly sharecropping, and then when my dad said
that he would like to help these boys out, why that's when | went commercially on my own
and started using these boys in a commercial program.

Now you were sharecropping?

Yes, | just continued what my father was doing when | went into strawberries. | got four
Japanese families and gave each one three acres of strawberries. | provided the land and
the plants, fertilizer, spray, the capital and the tractors. They did the cultural work and then we
went 50/50. | marketed the berries for them. | hauled the berries into town. My first
experience with commercial growing on my own, which | do now... | have no sharecroppers
now.

Is sharecropping still a common method of farming strawberries?

Very much so.

In California agriculture, generally, sharecropping is a rarity.

Yes.

In terms of other crops even.
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Yes.

It is used in the South for cotton farming.

Yes.

But I've never encountered sharecropping in California except for strawberry farming.
Let's say we had 2000 acres of strawberries being produced... what percentage would be

sharecropping?

Well, sharecropping is not common in Ventura County, and it is not common in Orange
County or San Diego County. It's just peculiar to Monterey and Santa Cruz County. [sic]

Do you think it's peculiar to Japanese growers?

No, itisn't. The main sharecropping is done by the Driscoll growers.
Very unusual.

The Japanese growers have very few sharecroppers now.

Now it's mostly commercial?

Yes, mostly commercial.

When you say "commercial” do you mean hired field cultivators?
Hired field hands, right.

Now you're exclusively a commercial grower, is that right?

Yes.

Which means...
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That | hire all my labor to raise all my crops.

If you had 70 acres, can you kind of give me a breakdown of the labor involved?

Well, right now,* you know, with this weather the way it is, we work infrequently. But | still
maintain about 20 boys. And when | get into my full harvest season, | need about 2 to 2 1/2
men per acre. If we were using the old method of farming where we farmed a double row
and all that, maybe 3 men per acre would not suffice, but since we go... I'm mostly in annual
planting now and that's because of the reduced need for labor and what the labor can do for
me. With the single row planting and with the annual planting my plants don't get quite as
bushy, and pickers can pick more, they make more money, and | can get by with less labor. |
still need, oh, from 2 to 2 1/2 men during my peak harvest. But that's just over a short period
of the time, then it falls again.

How long is your peak harvest?

It occurs probably from May to early June.

So you're hiring for say six weeks. Would that be accurate?

Well, about a six-week period, yes.

Then you'd have roughly 150 men?

Roughly.

Now, where do you get these men?

They're mostly green-card Mexican workers.

Now does that mean that they're Mexican nationals who come here for seasonal work?

*March 11, 1975
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Yes.

If you didn't have the green-card workers, could you make it?

No, | couldn't.

You wouldn't have the people?

Right, | wouldn't have enough people.

That's interesting.

I went through this particular experience when they eliminated the bracero program.* |
immediately cut my acreage down because | didn't know where my source of labor would be.
But with the acreage | did have, we recruited and sent a bus into San José because we were
told that there was labor available there.

Was this among the Mexicans in San José.

No. In general. | had Caucasians and Mexicans come from San José and we bussed them
here to Watsonville. And of course, you know, the cost of bussing them here was prohibitive.
And then on top of the bussing problem a lot of these people were here just for experience's
sake.

They didn't know what was involved in cultivating strawberries?

They didn't know. And of course | couldn't condemn them, but then | had secretaries and |

had college kids and truck drivers and just... you name them, | had everyone. When you're
unaccustomed to this type

In 1951 Congress enacted Public Law 78 in response to labor shortages during the Korean
War. P. L. 78, also known as the bracero program, governed the temporary importation of
Mexican workers, and was extended annually until 1964.
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of work it's... being close to the ground, it's stoop labor. It's difficult and they couldn't take it.
Could you get people from Santa Cruz County?

Well, we heard that labor was available in San José, but of course we were trying in Santa
Cruz County, too. We would go to the Farm Labor Office and place orders for people. Those
who applied for work there, why we had work available for them. But, you know, with this
sudden loss of the bracero program people weren't just working in strawberries; they were
working in all of agriculture.

All different types. Certainly.

Yes. So naturally there was just a shortage of labor for this type of work.

There is still some percentage of sharecropping done in the valley here in strawberries?
Right.

Can you pinpoint for me at what point the labor supply of this area ceased to be adequate for
the work and the production that were to be done, and when you started having to use

from outside this area?

Well, right now for my own needs, there's adequate labor available locally.

Really?

Well, the people that are working for me now are local people.

They live here?

Yes, they live here. The migrant workers know when the season starts and they come just
about at the
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point when the demand requires them. In this area we start to require this migrant labor
force toward the middle of April. There are some that come from Texas.

All the way to here?

Yes. They migrate here from Texas. But my feeling is that we have less and less of the
Texas, Arizona workers. Those who come from Texas and Arizona that can speak English
are finding more work in the canneries and freezer plants and less are doing field work.

Unions

Can you recount for me a little bit about any experiences you may have had with union
organizers among field workers in the valley here from the time you got into berries in 1949
to the present?

Well, my first experience with this was in 1970 when the UFW [United Farm Workers], or
[Cesar] Chavez's union, began to organize. They started talking to the field workers. Since
then the Teamsters have entered into the picture, too.

| see.

| was approached by the Teamsters two years ago. They were going to organize my workers.
I don't know for what reasons they didn't organize, or carry their intentions any further. The
other union, Chavez's union, works a little differently. They don't approach a farmer; they work
with the laborers first without approaching us or informing us that they are going to organize.
As aresult, we had this big strike in 1970 where we had a complete walkout. Then we went
into negotiations.

Now "we" would be all of the growers?
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Well, originally we started as a group of Naturipe growers; then all the other growers joined
us, and then we were represented by one negotiator and the Driscoll growers and the
independent growers and the Watsonville Berry Co-op Berry Growers. We all joined forces
and of course the representative from each group attended these negotiation sessions. But
we couldn't agree on terms and we terminated our negotiations.

And this was with the UFW?

Yes. And since then we haven't negotiated or done anything like that. The following year after
we terminated the negotiations, Chavez's group was around our fields quite frequently with
their bullhorns telling our workers to walk out. They said the farmers were no good and that
the workers should go with the labor organizers and they'd give them a better deal and all
that. But for some reason my workers didn't leave me; they stayed with me and they
harvested all my crop, and we haven't had a walkout since.

Now this was during 1970 and here we are five years later.

Yes.

Is there an established field workers' union in the valley now?

Yes, there is.

There is?

I think that the majority of the lettuce farmers are with the Teamsters Union.

Yes, that's right. But in strawberries?

In strawberries, no. The only strawberry grower
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with a Teamster contract is Tomasello Company. Of course he is a vegetable grower and a
row-crop farmer. It was only natural that he go with the Teamsters.

Do you recall any organizing efforts in the '20s and '30s?
Well yes, but they were kind of before my time.

Did your father have union field workers?

No. They were all sharecroppers; just family units.

So he always consistently had sharecroppers?

Right. He was never a commercial grower. Except my dad always had a little family farm for
my brothers and sisters and my mother to tend to.

Thank you very much, Mr. Shikuma. | have enjoyed our talk, and | think your manuscript will
be very informative for researchers.
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